


[image: image]








Supreme Decisions


Great Constitutional Cases and Their Impact


Volume 1: To 1896


Volume 2: Since 1896


Melvin I. Urofsky


Virginia Commonwealth University


[image: Image]


A Member of the Perseus Books Group




Volume 1:


For my children


Philip and Melissa, Robert and Leslie


And for their children


Volume 2:


For my grandchildren


Emma, Chloe, and Aaron


And for their parents


Combined Volume:


For my children, my grandchildren,


and as they requested,


for all the pooches as well


[image: Image]


Westview Press was founded in 1975 in Boulder, Colorado, by notable publisher and intellectual Fred Praeger. Westview Press continues to publish scholarly titles and high-quality undergraduate- and graduate-level textbooks in core social science disciplines. With books developed, written, and edited with the needs of serious nonfiction readers, professors, and students in mind, Westview Press honors its long history of publishing books that matter.


Copyright © 2012 by Westview Press


Published by Westview Press,


A Member of the Perseus Books Group


All rights reserved. Printed in the United States of America. No part of this book may be reproduced in any manner whatsoever without written permission except in the case of brief quotations embodied in critical articles and reviews. For information, address Westview Press, 2465 Central Avenue, Boulder, CO 80301.


Find us on the World Wide Web at www.westviewpress.com.


Every effort has been made to secure required permissions for all text, images, maps, and other art reprinted in this volume.


Westview Press books are available at special discounts for bulk purchases in the United States by corporations, institutions, and other organizations. For more information, please contact the Special Markets Department at the Perseus Books Group, 2300 Chestnut Street, Suite 200, Philadelphia, PA 19103, or call (800) 810-4145, ext. 5000, or e-mail special.markets@perseusbooks.com.


A CIP catalog record of this book is available from the Library of Congress.


Supreme decisions: great constitutional cases and their impact (volume 1, volume 2, combined volume), Melvin I. Urofsky


Paperback ISBNs: Volume 1: To 1896: 978-0-8133-4731-8; Volume 2: Since 1896: 978-0-8133-4733-2; Combined Volume: 978-0-8133-4735-6 (alk. paper)


E-book ISBNs: Volume 1: To 1896: 978-0-8133-4732–5; Volume 2: Since 1896: 978-0-8133-4734-9; Combined Volume: 978-0-8133-4736-3


10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1





Contents


Reviewer Acknowledgments


Introduction


Volume 1: To 1896


Chapter one


The Case of the Disappointed Office-Seeker: Marbury v. Madison (1803)


The Judiciary Act of 1801 and the Midnight Judges


William Marbury


The First Step—Repeal of the 1801 Judiciary Act


Marbury v. Madison


The Politics and Logic of Marshall’s Opinion


The Republicans Continue Their Attack


The Impeachment of Justice Chase


Defining Treason


Aftermath


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Chapter two


The Case of the Larcenous Cashier: M’Culloch v. Maryland (1819)


Interpreting the Constitution: Jefferson versus Hamilton


James McCulloh—Cashier Extraordinaire


Arguments before the Court


Decision


The States’ Rights Attack


John Marshall’s Defense


Citizen McCulloh


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Chapter three


The Case of the Rival Steamboat Operators: Gibbons v. Ogden (1824)


Mr. Fulton’s Steamboat


The Steamboat Monopoly


Enter Gibbons and Ogden


Creating a Question for the Federal Courts


Arguing before the Supreme Court


The Decision


The Legacy of the Case


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Chapter four


The Case of the Missionary to the Cherokee: Worcester v. Georgia (1832)


Setting the Stage


Taking Indian Land


Challenging Georgia Law in the Supreme Court


Samuel Worcester Goes to Georgia


The Georgia Law before the Supreme Court


The Failure of Law and a Political Compromise


Cherokee Removal


Aftermath


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Chapter five


The Case of the Zealous Slave Catcher: Prigg v. Pennsylvania (1842)


The Fugitive Slave Act of 1793


Personal Liberty Laws


Edward Prigg and Margaret Morgan


The Supreme Court Rules


After Prigg: George Latimer


The Fugitive Slave Act of 1850


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Chapter six


The Case of the Slave Who Would Be Free: Dred Scott v. Sandford (1857)


Dred Scott and His Travels


The Case in the Missouri State Courts


The Growing Storm over Slavery


The Compromise of 1850


Dred Scott in the Missouri Supreme Court


A Diversity Case—or Not


Before the Supreme Court


“The Self-Inflicted Wound”


Aftermath


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Chapter seven


The Case of the Antiwar Agitator: Ex parte Milligan (1866)


The Making of a Copperhead


Opposing the War


Military Trial


Ex parte Merryman


Ex parte Vallandigham


Arguing the Case


The Court’s Decision


Milligan in History


Milligan after the Case


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Chapter eight


The Case of the New Orleans Butchers: The Slaughterhouse Cases (1873)


A Simple Health Regulation in an Unhealthy City


The Butchers Fight Back


Defining Rights


In the Louisiana Courts


Justice Joseph Bradley, on Circuit


Before the U.S. Supreme Court


A Closely Divided Court Decides


Aftermath


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Chapter nine


The Case of the Woman Who Wanted to Be a Lawyer: Bradwell v. Illinois (1873)


Myra Bradwell


The Chicago Legal News


The Nascent Women’s Movement


A History of Legal Discrimination


Small Doors in the Wall


A Person of Good Character—but Not Eligible


On Appeal to the Supreme Court


The Decision


Moving On, and Triumphing


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Chapter ten


The Case of the Devout Bigamist: Reynolds v. United States (1879)


Mormon Beliefs


The Growing Opposition to the Faith


George Reynolds


The Test Case


The Supreme Court Decides: Belief versus Practice


Reaction to the Decision


The Persecution and Prosecution of the Mormons


The End of Plural Marriage


Continuing Questions


George Reynolds’s Last Years


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Chapter eleven


The Case of the Reluctant Strike Leader: In re Debs (1895)


George M. Pullman and the Palace Car


Pullman, Illinois


Eugene Victor Debs


The American Railway Union


The Pullman Workers Strike


The Boycott


Violence


Judge Grosscup Issues an Injunction


The Trial of Eugene V. Debs


The High Court Rules


Aftermath


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Volume 2: Since 1896


Chapter twelve


The Case of the Almost-White Traveler: Plessy v. Ferguson (1896)


The Freedmen after the Civil War


The Beginnings of Jim Crow


Challenging the Separate Car Act


Enter Homer Adolphe Plessy


The Separate Car Act in the Courts


The Supreme Court Decides


Justice Harlan’s Dissent


Plessy’s Bitter Fruits


Coda


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Chapter thirteen


The Case of the Stubborn Baker: Lochner v. New York (1905)


Industrialization and Protective Legislation


Substantive Due Process versus the Police Power


Bakeshops at the Turn of the Century


Trying to Clean Up the Bakeshops


Joseph Lochner Challenges the Law


The Supreme Court Hands Down a Surprise Decision


Lochner’s Aftermath


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Chapter fourteen


The Case of the Gentle Anarchist: Abrams v. United States (1919)


World War I and Speech


Jacob Abrams Opposes the War


Theories of Speech and the Bad Tendency


Schenck and “Clear and Present Danger”


Holmes Learns from His Critics


Abrams: Fighting Faiths


Reaction to Holmes’s Dissent: Pro and Con


The Sad End of Jacob Abrams


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Chapter fifteen


The Case of the High-Tech Bootlegger: Olmstead v. United States (1928)


The Road to the Noble Experiment


Prohibition in Practice


The Olmstead Ring in Seattle


The Meaning of the Fourth Amendment


Chief Justice Taft’s Opinion


Justices Butler and Holmes Dissent


The Brandeis Dissent and the Right of Privacy


Roy Olmstead Reforms


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Chapter sixteen


The Four Horsemen’s Last Ride: The New Deal Cases (1930s)


The Great Depression


The Court and State Measures to Combat the Depression


The New Deal Begins


Going Off the Gold Standard


The National Industrial Recovery Act


The Schechter Case


The New Deal Farm Program and the Court


The Attack on the New Deal Continues


The Court-Packing Plan


Elsie Parrish Wants Her Money


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Chapter seventeen


The Case of the Conscientious Schoolchildren: The Flag-Salute Cases (1940 and 1943)


Lillian Gobitas Acts on Her Faith


The Witnesses in Federal Courts


The Witnesses in the High Court: Round I


The Violent Response to the Decision


Expanding the Boundaries of the First Amendment


The High Court: Round II


Aftermath


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Chapter eighteen


The Case of Too-Long-Delayed Equality: Brown v. Board of Education (1954 and 1955)


Linda Brown and the Other Plaintiffs


From Plessy to Brown


The Arguments


The Decision


The Response


Remedies and Brown II


Moving—but Slowly


Ike and Little Rock


The Beginnings of Desegregation


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Chapter nineteen


The Case of the Robust Press: New York Times v. Sullivan (1964)


Merton Nachman Reads the Newspaper


The Struggle for Civil Rights in Alabama


L. B. Sullivan and Law Enforcement in Montgomery


The Sit-in Movement Comes to Alabama


“Heed Their Rising Voices”


A Brief History of Libel Law


The Sullivan Case


The Supreme Court and the Press Clause


“Debate on Public Issues Should Be Uninhibited, Robust, and Wide-Open”


Aftermath


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Chapter twenty


The Case of the Uninformed Rapist: Miranda v. Arizona (1966)


The Victim


Ernesto Miranda and His Confession


The Due Process Revolution Begins: Gideon v. Wainwright


The Fifth Amendment’s “Great Right”


Connecting the Fifth and Sixth Amendments: Massiah


Strengthening the Connection: Escobedo


“You Have the Right to Remain Silent”


The Success of Miranda


Refining Miranda


Miranda’s End


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Chapter twenty one


The Case That Aroused Great Passions: Roe v. Wade (1973)


Abortion Legislation: A Brief History


Growing Support for Abortion Rights


Establishing the Right to Privacy


Sarah Weddington Meets Norma McCorvey


Jane Roe Wins Round One


Abortion in the Supreme Court before Roe


Roe v. Wade and Doe v. Bolton


The Response to the Decisions


Aftermath


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Chapter twenty two


Coming Out of the Closet and into the Courts: The Gay Rights Cases (1986–2003)


Michael Hardwick Is Arrested


Hardwick Goes to Court—Charting Unfamiliar Territory


The Gay Rights Movement


Hardwick in the Supreme Court


The Court Tries to Find Its Way


A Ray of Hope—Romer v. Evans


John Geddes Lawrence Is Arrested


The Supreme Court Decides


The Aftermath of Lawrence


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Chapter twenty three


The Constitution Besieged: The War on Terror Cases (2000s)


Rounding Up Suspected Aliens


Zacarias Moussaoui


Enemy Combatants


The Prisoners of Guantánamo


The Supreme Court Issues a Warning


Hamdan v. Rumsfeld


Another Rebuke from the Court


Aftermath


Cases Cited


For Further Reading


Constitution of the United States


Glossary


Index





Reviewer Acknowledgments



I would like to thank the reviewers whose feedback on the manuscript was so helpful, including:




Robert Allison, Suffolk University


Gordon Bakken, California State University, Fullerton


Elizabeth Dale, University of Florida


Thomas J. Davis, Arizona State University, Tempe


Sally Hadden, Western Michigan University


Eric R. Jackson, Northern Kentucky University


Patricia Minter, Western Kentucky University


Yvonne Pitts, Purdue University


Richard Polenberg, Cornell University


John C. Putman, San Diego State University


John E. Semonche, University of North Carolina [retired]


Christopher Waldrep, San Francisco State University


Laura Wittern-Keller, University of Albany








Introduction



TODAY ALL OF US RECOGNIZE that the Supreme Court plays an important part in our daily lives, as it defines what rights belong to the citizens of this country, what Congress and state legislatures can and cannot do, how far presidential authority extends, and what is the proper balance between the powers of the national government and those of the states. But when George Washington took the oath of office in 1789 as the first president under the Constitution, he had difficulty finding men to serve as justices of the Supreme Court that Congress had created. During its first decade, although the Court handed down some important decisions, few people in the country thought of the judicial arm as a coequal partner in the national government, comparable to the executive or legislative branch. The first chief justice of the United States, John Jay, resigned to become governor of New York, and Associate Justice John Rutledge left to become chief justice of South Carolina. The constitutional declaration in Article III that “the judicial power of the United States shall be vested in one Supreme Court, and in such inferior courts as the Congress may from time to time ordain and establish,” seemed to many an afterthought.


That, of course, changed when John Marshall became chief justice in 1801. Just as Washington had clothed the bare-bones description of the presidency with the flesh and blood of practice, so Marshall gave life to some of the key phrases of the Constitution, and in doing so made the Supreme Court not only a significant player in the affairs of the national government but also the final arbiter of what the Constitution means. For more than 210 years it has been what the Court says that has influenced major trends in our historical development, and has defined the important phrases in the Constitution. We understand what interstate commerce, freedom of speech, and equal protection of the law mean because of what the Court has said.


Each generation of Americans brings new questions before the courts, and the flexibility that the Framers built into the Constitution has allowed it to respond to issues that the founding generation never even imagined. Sometimes the decisions have been controversial, and there have been some false starts. But for the most part, the justices have done a good job of reading the words of an eighteenth-century document to cover the contingencies raised in the ensuing decades.


Although the U.S. Supreme Court is one of the most powerful constitutional courts in the world, it can only decide those issues that come within its jurisdiction. In the early nineteenth century the French traveler Alexis de Tocqueville declared that in the United States all important political questions ultimately wind up as judicial questions. But the justices cannot just reach out and decide an issue; they must wait until a “case or controversy” is properly brought before them, and then they carefully weigh just which questions they wish to answer.


These cases and controversies are not abstract, and they involve real people—the men and women who brought the issues into the courts to begin with—people like William Marbury challenging the authority of a president, Dred Scott claiming to be free, and Myra Bradwell believing that women ought to be allowed to practice law. In more modern times we find Jacob Abrams arguing that the First Amendment gave him a right to voice unpopular opinions, Lillian Gobitas refusing to salute the flag because of her religious beliefs, and Oliver Brown wanting his daughter Linda to go to a desegregated school.


When I studied constitutional history in graduate school, and later on in law school, the emphasis was on the case holding. In this case the Court decided that a particular clause of the Constitution meant a certain thing, and therefore the statute in question was either constitutional or not. We never met the litigants, other than in one or two sentences at the beginning of the opinion setting out how the case began. One could read through such famous decisions as Marbury v. Madison (1803), Plessy v. Ferguson (1896), Olmstead v. United States (1928), and Roe v. Wade (1973) and know absolutely nothing about William Marbury, Homer Plessy, Roy Olmstead, and Norma McCorvey (Jane Roe). Who were these people? What were the circumstances that brought their cases into court? What were the larger social, economic, and political developments that lay behind their cases?


The so-called new constitutional history that began in the late 1970s and early 1980s demanded that teachers and students pay more attention to such questions. Great scholars such as E. S. Corwin and Willard Hurst had always done so, but they had been a minority. Now men and women who had been trained in law and history or law and political science entered the field who articulated the need to understand not just the jurisprudence of a case, but the social conditions that surrounded it. One could not discuss the Plessy case, for example, and ignore the growth of segregation after the Civil War, or why someone like Homer Plessy challenged it. Nor could one deal with Abrams without understanding the fear of radical ideas during wartime and the fact that ideas regarding free speech—ideas we now all take for granted—were not yet part of the constitutional dialogue.


One of my teachers, John A. Garraty, edited the first effort to provide these stories to students, and his Quarrels That Have Shaped the Constitution had a long and successful run as a supplemental text in college courses. That book has long been out of print, and I am grateful to Westview Press, and especially to my editor, Priscilla McGeehon, for agreeing with me that a new text was needed—one that would tell the stories behind some of the most important cases in our history. I would also like to thank Marcelle Maginnis and Laura Stewart for their editorial assistance.


One of the problems for anyone trying to tell constitutional stories is choosing which ones to include. Every teacher of constitutional history in the country has his or her “favorite” cases, and all would be legitimate contenders for inclusion. In this collection I have tried to provide cases that handle issues that not only were important in the past but still resonate today—issues of privacy, free speech, and race; treatment of women, Native Americans, and gays; and rights of people accused of crimes. There are other cases that also address these questions—and indeed many more as well—but a choice had to be made both among the topics to consider and which stories to tell. These are my choices, and in the selection I relied heavily on my own experience in teaching constitutional history and law. My hope is that others will find the tales as compelling as I do.


Melvin Urofsky
Virginia Commonwealth University
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chapter one



The Case of the Disappointed Office-Seeker



Marbury v. Madison (1803)


LOOKING BACK, we can see that the election of 1800 was an important step forward in the growth of an American democratic state. For the first time in Anglo-American history, a government had been turned out by the people at the polls, and its leaders peacefully handed over power to the opposition. This, however, did not seem so clear at the time. Although the Jeffersonian Republicans had won control of the executive and legislative branches, the judiciary remained firmly in the hands of the defeated Federalists. The idea of a divided government was foreign to Americans at the time; in the English tradition the king chose the prime minister and appointed the judges.


Thomas Jefferson believed that he would not able to implement the democratic policies he favored so long as the Federalists controlled the judiciary, and especially with his cousin and rival, John Marshall, as the new chief justice of the Supreme Court. The battle between Jefferson and the judiciary played out in several venues during the eight years of Jefferson’s presidency, and included the abolishment of some courts, the impeachment and near-conviction of Justice Samuel Chase, and the treason trial of Aaron Burr. None of them, however, would have a greater influence on American constitutional development than William Marbury’s case. It was not the opening gun of the war between Jefferson and the Court, but it was the most decisive. Aside from political differences, much of the situation resulted from efforts by John Adams and the Federalists to retain control of the judiciary, and Jefferson’s determination not to let that happen.



The Judiciary Act of 1801 and the Midnight Judges



In the months after the Federalists lost the election of 1800, but before Jefferson took over the White House, the Federalist-controlled Congress passed the Judiciary Act of 1801 along with the Organic Act for the District of Columbia. Along with other provisions, both laws created a number of new judicial offices, which the outgoing president, John Adams, proceeded to fill mostly with members of his own party.


At the time, the newly created District of Columbia consisted of two counties, Washington (the present-day area of Washington, D.C.) and Alexandria (which is now Alexandria, Virginia). On March 2, 1801, Adams nominated twenty-three men to be justices of the peace in Washington County and nineteen in Alexandria County. After the Senate confirmed these appointments on March 3, Adams signed the official commissions, not finishing until late into the night of his last day in office (hence the group came to be known as the “Midnight Judges”). Secretary of State John Marshall, who had just been named chief justice of the Supreme Court, affixed the great seal of the United States, and that same evening his brother, James Marshall, delivered some of the commissions to men in Alexandria, who ultimately served their term in office. But none of the twenty-three justices of the peace in Washington County received their commissions before Adams left office at noon on March 4.


When Jefferson took office he discovered the signed, sealed, but as yet undelivered commissions. He reappointed the six Republicans who had been on Adams’s list, as well as six of the Federalists, but refused to name the remaining eleven men. Most of the Federalists who did not receive their commission accepted their fate passively, but not William Marbury. Without the commission—without the actual parchment and seal—he could not serve in the office. So Marbury went to court to force the Jefferson administration to deliver the commission. The resulting case led to one of the most important decisions in American constitutional history.


William Marbury


William Marbury had been born in 1762 on a small tobacco plantation in Piscataway, Maryland. His career progressed slowly in the 1780s, since Maryland government and politics were in a constant turmoil. Not until the adoption of the U.S. Constitution and the establishment of a new national government did Maryland’s economic fortunes revive; when that occurred, Marbury, aligned with the leading Federalists in Maryland, stood ready to prosper. In 1796 Marbury was named agent of the state of Maryland, the most powerful unelected office in the state. Although he and his colleagues in the office apparently did not shirk from using their positions to advance their own fortunes—a practice not uncommon then or now—unlike many other Maryland officials at the time, Marbury was never tainted with even the slightest tinge of corruption. He prospered not only because of the new federal government’s successful fiscal policies, but also because of his financial acumen. In addition, he helped other important members of the Maryland elite to realize profit from the federal plan, earning their trust and gratitude.


In the bitterly contested presidential election of 1800, Marbury declared his support for John Adams, and when Congress finally chose Thomas Jefferson as the winner on February 17, 1801, a mob ran through the capital demanding that everyone put candles in their windows to indicate support for the new president. When they came to Marbury’s house, he would have none of it, and stood up to the mob’s leaders until they finally moved on, leaving him in peace. To reward Marbury for his loyalty, Adams named him one of the forty-two justices of the peace Congress had authorized for the capital. Many, like Marbury, had been staunch supporters of John Adams and his party. Although Jefferson did not revoke the commissions of all of Adams’s appointees, he believed the new city did not need so many justices of the peace. The new president believed—correctly—that Marbury had been one of the Federalist Party’s most partisan supporters, and withheld his commission. And, because John Marshall had not delivered the commission, technically Marbury had never held the office.


But Marbury wanted it, both for its prestige and political influence, which could translate into wealth. But although the commission had been signed and sealed, it had not been delivered, and without the document itself, Marbury could neither exercise the powers of the office nor collect the fees for his services. He needed the actual commission, and decided to go to court to get it. Under the provisions of the Judiciary Act of 1789, Congress had given the Supreme Court the power to issue writs of mandamus, which in effect direct a public official to carry out an act or duty. Marbury sought such a writ against Secretary of State James Madison to force him to hand over the commission that Adams had signed. The whole situation resulted from efforts by Adams and the Federalists to retain control of the judiciary, and Jefferson’s determination not to let that happen. The politics involved in the effort to control the judiciary explains much of what followed.


The First Step—Repeal of the 1801 Judiciary Act


The Judiciary Act of 1801 created sixteen new circuit court judges, an expansion of the court system that the growing nation needed. But those benefits have been obscured by charges that the Federalists, ousted from authority by the people, sought to cling to power by packing the courts with their allies. In Jefferson’s words, the Federalists “retired into the judiciary as a stronghold.” Had these appointments been available to the Republicans, their complaints might not have been so loud, for many in that party also recognized the need to correct the deficiencies in the system. On the other hand, had the goal of Adams and his party been only judicial reform, the retiring president might have been wise enough to leave a few of the new judicial seats vacant, allowing Jefferson the opportunity to make some selections. But Adams appointed men to all the vacancies—and with great haste—filling the judiciary with dozens of Federalists, many of whom would have tenure for life.


In 1801 not a single Republican sat on a federal court, and nothing but death or resignation—both unpredictable factors—would allow Jefferson to rectify that situation. Adams’s appointment of John Marshall as chief justice did not please the new president at all, for there had long been ill will between them, and Marshall’s federalism—centered on a strong national government with extensive constitutional powers—stood solidly opposed to Jefferson’s belief in a limited national government with the majority of power lodged in the states. Something had to be done, Jefferson believed, to prevent the Federalist bench from hindering democracy. As Republican representative William Giles asserted, “[T]he revolution is incomplete, so long as that strong fortress is in possession of the enemy.” Giles advocated that Jefferson remove “all of [the judges] . . . indiscriminately.”


Any proposed solution raised constitutional questions. Since judges served for life, no one knew if Congress could simply abolish judgeships in order to get rid of particular judges. Certainly if this were possible, then the whole idea of life tenure for judges would be in doubt. Nothing would prevent Jefferson and his allies from abolishing all existing courts, including the Supreme Court, and then re-creating them a short time later, so that the new president could appoint his allies to the bench. The process might well be repeated whenever a new administration took office. Such political tinkering with the courts strikes modern ears as unfathomable, but since the Republicans proceeded to do just that, it is clear that they worried very little about the constitutionality of an act that fired judges.


Jefferson, who often claimed to be a strict constructionist when it came to reading the Constitution, nevertheless saw no constitutional problems with the idea. His plan was to abolish the new courts and, in the process, eliminate the judges. Shortly after his inauguration, Jefferson told a friend that “the judge of course stands till the law is repealed, which we trust will be at the next Congress.” On January 6, 1802, John Breckinridge of Kentucky, a strong supporter of Jefferson, introduced a bill in the Senate to repeal the Judiciary Act of 1801. After intense debate, the Repeal Act narrowly passed the upper chamber, 16–15, on February 3; the House, where the Republicans enjoyed a large majority, enacted the Senate bill without amendment on March 8, 1802.


Congress then passed the Judiciary Act of 1802, increasing the number of circuits from three to six, with each Supreme Court justice assigned to only one, where he would hold court with the local district judges on circuit twice a year. In addition, the new law provided for only one term of the Supreme Court each year instead of the two terms that had been in effect since 1789, thus further reducing the physical strain on the justices by eliminating an arduous trip to the capital. The new term would begin on the first Monday of every February. This provision, which certainly made sense in light of the Court’s caseload, nonetheless provoked much criticism. Because this act was passed in April 1802, the Supreme Court would not meet again until February 1803. Since the last meeting had been in December 1801, this meant that the Supreme Court would not meet for fourteen months, and tensions simmered in the interim.


Critics of the 1802 act claimed that the Republicans feared that the Supreme Court at the anticipated June term would have found the Repeal Act unconstitutional. Jefferson’s friend James Monroe, now governor of Virginia, warned that if the public viewed the postponement as “an unconstitutional oppression of the judiciary by the legislature,” then it might also see the Repeal Act as unconstitutional. He urged the president to veto the bill, but Jefferson believed that the delay would work in the party’s favor; by the time the Court met in 1803, the president predicted, the furor would have died down.


Chief Justice John Marshall privately “doubted the constitutionality of the repeal.” But Marshall was shrewd enough as a politician to know when he could not win. He told Justice William Paterson that he would “be bound by the opinion of the majority of the Judges,” knowing that in fact within the Court only Justice Samuel Chase publicly argued against the constitutionality of the repeal. When a specific challenge did reach the Court in Stuart v. Laird (1803), the Court, in an opinion by Paterson, affirmed the constitutionality of the repeal. What had seemed so grave a question at the time passed quickly into obscurity. One reason for Marshall’s acquiescence may have been his desire to avoid a direct confrontation with President Jefferson in a manner that would allow Jefferson to obstruct the Court’s opinion. Instead, Marshall found a better way to challenge Jefferson, in an opinion delivered six days before the decision in Stuart v. Laird. In Marbury v. Madison, Marshall confronted Jefferson—and beat him on a major constitutional point—in such a manner that Jefferson could not respond.



Marbury v. Madison



Jefferson claimed that delivery was essential for a commission to be valid, just as for a deed or bond, and that by withholding the document, the entire nomination had been voided. Marbury and his lawyer, former attorney general Charles Lee, argued that signing and sealing the commission completed the transaction, and that delivery constituted a mere formality. But formality or not, without the actual piece of parchment, Marbury could not enter into the duties of office. The Court, aware of Jefferson’s hostility, might well have dismissed the suit immediately for lack of jurisdiction, but instead it aroused Republican resentment by agreeing to hear the case at its next term. When Marshall convened the Court in February 1803, Marbury v. Madison stood on the docket.


Some scholars have questioned whether Marshall should have removed himself from this case because of his prior involvement as Adams’s secretary of state. Certainly, later judicial standards would have called for recusement, but at the time only financial connections to a case led judges to step aside, as Marshall did in suits regarding Virginia lands in which he had an interest. The Jeffersonians, always quick to criticize Marshall, did not even raise the issue of his sitting in the Marbury case.


The merits of the case, by any reasonable interpretation, can only be described as minor. By the time the Court heard it, the wisdom of Jefferson’s reducing the number of justices of the peace had been confirmed; Marbury’s original term was almost half over; and most people, Federalists and Republicans alike, considered the issue moot. But Marshall, despite the political difficulties involved, recognized that he had a perfect case with which to expound a basic principle, and by his persistence, he utilized it to lay the foundation for the Court to assume the primary role in constitutional interpretation.


It is questionable if Marshall had planned any grand strategy when he and the Court agreed to hear the case. By the time the justices heard arguments, however, the chief justice recognized the hostility of the Jeffersonian Republicans and the dilemma it posed to the Court. If it issued the mandamus, the Court had no power to enforce it, and Jefferson would certainly ignore it. If, on the other hand, the Court refused to issue the writ, it would appear that the judiciary had backed down before the executive, and this Marshall would not allow. The solution he chose has properly been termed a tour de force. In one stroke, Marshall managed to establish the power of the Court as the ultimate arbiter of the Constitution, to chastise the Jefferson administration for its failure to obey the law, and yet to avoid having the Court’s authority challenged by the administration.


Marshall, adopting a style that would mark all his major opinions, reduced the case to a few basic issues. He asked three questions: Did Marbury have the right to the commission? If he did, and his right had been violated, did the law provide him with a remedy? If so, did mandamus from the Supreme Court constitute the proper remedy? The last question, the crucial one, dealt with the jurisdiction of the Court in a particular case, and should normally have been answered first, since a negative response would have obviated the need to decide the other issues. But that would have denied Marshall the opportunity to criticize Jefferson for what the chief justice saw as flouting the laws.


For the most part, following the arguments of Marbury’s counsel on the first two questions, Marshall held that the validity of a commission existed once a president signed it and transmitted it to the secretary of state to affix the seal. Presidential discretion ended there, for the political decision had been made, and the secretary of state had only a ministerial task to perform—delivering the commission. In this, the law bound him, like anyone else, to obey. Marshall drew a careful and lengthy distinction between the political acts of the president and the secretary, in which the courts had no business interfering, and the simple administrative execution that, governed by law, the judiciary could review. “The province of the court,” he wrote, “is, solely, to decide on the rights of individuals, not to inquire how the executive, or executive officers, perform duties in which they have a discretion. Questions in their nature political, or which are, by the constitution and laws, submitted to the executive, can never be made in this Court.”


Having decided that Marbury had the right to the commission, Marshall next turned to the question of remedy, and once again, it appeared that the Court would find for the plaintiff. Mandamus would require Secretary Madison either to provide the original commission or secure a copy from the record. So far, those sitting in the courtroom listening to the chief justice read the opinion in his hard, dry voice must have assumed that Marbury had won his case. But then, having lectured Jefferson and Madison for their sins in “sport[ing] away the vested rights of others,” Marshall turned to the crucial third question. Now at last, he declared that Congress, in granting the Supreme Court the power of mandamus in original jurisdiction in Section 13 of the Judiciary Act of 1789, had violated the Constitution. That document defined the original jurisdiction of the Court—that is, cases the Court could hear directly rather than on appeal from a lower court. The Constitution did not grant the Court the power of mandamus, and therefore Congress could not do so either. In effect, he told Marbury: “Plaintiff, your rights have been violated by Jefferson and mandamus is your proper remedy, but we are sorry; this Court cannot help you.” Marshall thus had his cake and ate it too; he castigated the administration, but avoided a confrontation with Jefferson that the Court could not win.


The Politics and Logic of Marshall’s Opinion


The politics of Marbury v. Madison have been widely hailed. In view of the attacks the Jeffersonians launched against the judiciary, Marshall had to make a strong statement to maintain the status of the Court as a coequal branch of government. By asserting the power to declare acts of Congress unconstitutional, a power that the Court would not exercise again for more than a half-century, Marshall claimed for the Court the paramount position within the government in constitutional interpretation. Marbury set the abiding precedent for the Court’s power in this area, and even today the case is cited as authority whenever a law comes before the Court for constitutional review.


The judicial logic of Marshall’s argument, however, has been questioned over the years, especially at times when Court decisions have been unpopular. The proper initial question for any court to ask is whether it has jurisdiction over a particular case; if the answer is no, it need not—and should not—decide the merits. In Marbury, the Court decided it had no jurisdiction to decide the two questions it had already decided. Marshall stood the normal procedure on its head in order to make his political points.


There is also some support for the idea that Marshall wrongly interpreted the Constitution. Article III, Section 2, of the Constitution gives the Supreme Court original jurisdiction in a limited number of cases, and then gives the Court “appellate Jurisdiction” in “other cases” but “with such Exceptions, and under such Regulations as the Congress shall make.” Many modern scholars argue that “such Exceptions” can be interpreted to allow Congress to expand, but not contract, the original jurisdiction of the Court. If this were so, then Congress did have the constitutional authority to give the Court the right to issue a writ of mandamus. Had Marshall been arguing from a position of strength, perhaps with a supportive president in office, he might have made such an interpretation. But, given the political realities of the case, he could not do so.


Beyond the immediate issue, Marshall also claimed for the Court two far-ranging powers. The first of these, judicial review of legislation, was not that revolutionary, despite the absence of a specific delegation of this authority in the Constitution. Marshall carefully justified the Court’s power through a commonsense reading of Articles III and VI. Article III provided that “the judicial Power of the United States, shall be vested in one supreme Court, and in such inferior Courts as Congress may from time to time establish.” This grant of judicial power provided a broad mandate, intended to include all functions normally performed by courts, and therefore had to be read in light of customary usage and other provisions of the Constitution. Article VI, the supremacy clause, established a hierarchy of law, with the Constitution at the apex, superior to acts of Congress. Whenever the two conflicted, the lesser (legislation) had to give way to the greater (the Constitution). The power of courts to nullify legislative acts, while admittedly not exercised frequently, existed in English and American legal traditions, and sufficient examples, many fresh in memory, supported the power. Finally, the Constitution, although the fundamental law of the land, remained a law; as such, it had to be interpreted, and courts had always been the accepted interpreters of the law.


While these arguments supported Marshall’s claim for the Court to decide the merits of a particular case, he assumed a second and even larger power. Not only did judges take an oath to support the Constitution, but the legislative and executive officers did so as well. Why did they not have an equal authority to decide on the constitutionality of a measure? Would not a major consideration of Congress in drafting a bill, and the president in signing it into law, be the validity of the statute in light of constitutional provisions? Marshall conceded that in certain areas the Court would defer to the other branches, but some agency had to decide which of the arms of government should pass on a specific measure. The question of “Who decides who decides?” is thus the most important of all, and Marshall assumed for the Court the power to determine when it would determine the merits and when it would make the judgment that Congress or the president had the responsibility.


Although Marbury v. Madison has remained the key precedent for judicial review, the debate, even if diminished in volume, has continued for nearly two centuries. The Republicans condemned the decision, and Jefferson, until the end of his life, derided the opinion. In 1823 he told Justice William Johnson that the decision was “merely an obiter dissertation of the Chief Justice.” In 1825 Justice John Bannister Gibson of the Pennsylvania Supreme Court, dissenting in Eakin v. Raub, argued against Marshall’s logic, claiming that courts lacked the power of judicial review unless it was specifically granted in a constitution.


It is likely that the debate will never be fully resolved, and the literature about judicial review will continue to grow. But the fact remains that the Court has claimed and exercised the power through most of our country’s history—and, as Judge Learned Hand noted over a century later, the country is used to it by now. Moreover, it does fit into a government of checks and balances, as Hamilton had explained in Federalist No. 78. Finally, one can hardly argue with Marshall’s statement of principle near the end of his opinion, “that a law repugnant to the constitution is void, and that courts, as well as other departments, are bound by that instrument.”



The Republicans Continue Their Attack



The Republican attacks on the judiciary did not result from Marbury, or even begin with the case, although Marshall’s tongue-lashing of the administration exacerbated the tensions. While the Repeal Act and a few new appointments whittled down Federalist strength in the judiciary, Federalists still controlled a major branch of government. Jefferson would ultimately make three appointments to the Supreme Court, but no vacancy occurred until 1804, the last year of his first term. Republicans resented this situation, and beyond their hunger for office, feared that Federalist judges would undermine Republican programs. In fact, the only excuse for this otherwise indefensible assault on judicial independence is that in fact some Federalist judges did abuse their positions.


At about the same time the Republican Congress was passing the Repeal Act, Republicans began an assault on Alexander Addison, a Federalist judge in Pennsylvania’s western district. Addison infuriated the Republican majority in the state legislature with his frequent political harangues from the bench attacking Jefferson and the Republicans, while denying a Republican colleague the right to address a grand jury. Although judges in Pennsylvania could be removed by a simple majority vote of both houses, that was not enough for the Republicans, who decided that Addison’s behavior deserved impeachment, a process that resembled a criminal trial. The state Republicans hired Alexander J. Dallas, whom Jefferson had appointed as federal district attorney, to manage the prosecution, and in January 1803, Dallas secured Addison’s removal from office.


Shortly afterward, Jefferson sent a letter to the House of Representatives about complaints he had received concerning District Judge John Pickering of New Hampshire. Since the matter did not lie “within Executive cognizance”—that is, there was nothing he could do about it—the president forwarded the materials to Congress for whatever action it deemed appropriate. There is no question that Pickering played politics from the bench. The case that triggered the complaint involved a Republican-appointed customs collector’s seizure of the ship Eliza, owned by a Federalist merchant, for allegedly carrying illegal goods. At the trial, an obviously drunken Pickering ruled for the ship owner and then verbally abused the Republican district attorney when he sought to appeal the decision. The elderly judge, who had served the state for many years and had been an active patriot during the Revolution, appeared to be mentally deranged as well as chronically inebriated. Pickering should have been removed from the bench, but instead this sad case became enmeshed in partisan strife.


Unfortunately, the Constitution made no provision for the removal of judges, or any official, in such a situation, and not until the Twenty-fifth Amendment (1967) did the nation address this problem for the presidency. The Constitution noted that judges “shall hold their Offices during good Behaviour” but did not define this phrase. Elsewhere, the document provided for the impeachment of the president and “all civil Officers of the United States” for “Treason, Bribery, or other high Crimes and Misdemeanors.” But no one seriously suggested that Pickering’s conduct fell into this category. The president considered impeachment “a bungling way” to remove judges, and suggested a constitutional amendment to permit the chief executive, upon petition of Congress, to remove federal judges. Pickering’s case might have offered the opportunity to amend the Constitution to provide for such cases, but the intense partisan bitterness over the judiciary at this time made any change impossible. At Jefferson’s request, the judge’s friends tried to persuade him to resign, but Pickering refused, in part because he was no longer mentally competent to make such a decision.


In the end, Pickering was removed from office without much partisanship. Of the thirty-six Federalists in the House, only eight voted against his impeachment. Of the nine Federalists in the Senate, only one voted to acquit him. However, instead of voting him guilty of “high crimes and misdemeanors,” the senators voted that he was only “guilty as charged.” Even the most partisan Republicans could not declare the obviously insane Pickering guilty of a “high crime.”


The Impeachment of Justice Chase


The Pickering case proved but a rehearsal for the next act of the drama, the impeachment of Supreme Court Justice Samuel Chase. A patriot and signer of the Declaration of Independence, Chase had enjoyed a long and distinguished career that was blemished, however, by more than one untoward incident. He had not been averse to rioting during the anti-British agitation, and during the war he had engaged in some questionable financial operations, leading Alexander Hamilton to condemn him as “universally despised.” Chase had originally opposed the Constitution, and later became a staunch Federalist. His combative nature was well-known. As a state judge he narrowly escaped removal from the Maryland bench when the legislature failed to muster the two-thirds vote necessary for his impeachment. Despite these liabilities, George Washington had appointed him to the Supreme Court in 1796.


Of all Federalist officials, none had earned greater dislike from the Republicans than Chase, who had presided over the highly political trials of Republican journalists Thomas Cooper and James Callender, who were found guilty of sedition and later pardoned by Jefferson. Lawyers feared Chase’s frequent browbeating, and he often used jury charges to vent his spleen on political opponents. In fact, the impeachment stemmed directly from his charge to a grand jury in Baltimore in May 1803, in which he intemperately condemned the Repeal Act, as well as recent proposals to broaden the suffrage in Maryland, which he claimed would only lead to “mobocracy” and the destruction of peace, order, freedom, and property.


Jefferson originally tried to ignore Chase, and some of the party leaders, aware that some Republican judges also used state benches for political purposes as well, hesitated to take action. But the groundswell of opposition, fueled by an aggressive Republican press, finally led Virginia representative John Randolph of Roanoke in January 1804 to call for an investigation of Chase’s conduct. At the request of Pennsylvania Republicans, the committee also looked into the activities of Richard Peters, a district judge in that state. No one expected Peters to be impeached, and the House committee rapidly cleared him, but Republicans hoped that the threat of impeachment would teach him and other Federalist judges some caution. The committee did, however, recommend impeachment proceedings against Chase, and on March 11, by a vote of 73–32, the House approved the committee’s recommendations.


On March 12, 1804, the same day that the Senate voted to remove Judge Pickering, the House impeached Justice Chase. It appeared the Republicans were going to dismantle the federal judiciary, one judge at a time. Chase’s trial began in the Senate on February 4, 1805, presided over by Vice President Aaron Burr. Although the Republicans had been almost unanimous in their pursuit of Chase in the House, their ranks broke in the upper chamber. Sen. William Giles of Virginia made his feelings clear: “A removal by impeachment [is] nothing more than a declaration by Congress to this effect: You hold dangerous opinions, and if you are suffered to carry them into effect you will work the destruction of the nation. We want your offices, for the purposes of giving them to men who will fill them better.” Some Republicans, however, no matter how they despised Chase, feared such a bald attack on the independence of the judiciary, and Giles evidently hinted that once they removed Chase, they would go after Marshall and the rest. Events in Pennsylvania at this time, where Republicans were attempting to impeach all but one of the judges on the state’s highest court, underscored the seriousness of the threat. The effort there failed, but only by a narrow margin.


These fears led enough moderate Republicans to defect, so that after a bitter and sensational trial, the Senate failed to muster the two-thirds majority necessary to convict Chase. Unlike Pickering, who was too incompetent to mount a defense, Chase defended himself before the Senate with great vigor, arguing that “no judge can be impeached and removed from office for any act or offense for which he could not be indicted.” Despite their overwhelming control of the Senate, the Republicans got only a tiny majority—nothing close to the required two-thirds vote—to vote for two of the eight charges of impeachment. On one count, only four Republicans voted to convict, and on another the Senate was unanimous in voting for acquittal. Chase had no doubt abused his office—he even admitted that his conduct on the bench had, on occasion, been “improper and dangerous,” but he had not acted criminally, and that, in essence, became the standard for removal of federal judges. But Chase was superb in his own defense, and in the process shaped the law of impeachment for the next two centuries.


Following Chase’s acquittal and the failure to impeach the Pennsylvania judges, the Republicans’ assault on the judiciary ebbed to some extent. The question of how to remove judges who were no longer capable of fulfilling their duties, or who abused the position but fell short of criminal behavior, remained unanswered. Shortly after Chase’s trial, John Randolph proposed a constitutional amendment allowing the president to remove a federal judge on joint address of both houses of Congress. Although a majority of the Senate indicated its willingness to consider the motion, the idea never caught on. Jefferson, who did not take an active role in the proceedings, continued to worry about an irresponsible judiciary. Having found impeachment an empty threat, he wrote in 1820 that judges “consider themselves secure for life; they skulk from responsibility to public opinion. . . . A judiciary independent of a king or executive alone, is a good thing; but independence of the will of the nation is a solecism, at least in a republican government.”


While losing the battle over Chase, Jefferson nevertheless made an important contribution to the development of American courts and constitutional law. Following the trial, federal judges began to avoid flagrantly partisan acts. If nothing else, the attack on the judiciary helped create a federal bench that concentrated on the law and left overt politics to the elected representatives of the people.


But it would be impossible for the bench to avoid the political fallout from all controversies. When such a situation arose, the judges had to exercise their political skills, as well as display their legal knowledge. Chief Justice Marshall would soon face such a challenge during the treason trial of Vice President Aaron Burr.


Defining Treason


Burr had once been a close ally of Jefferson and served as his first vice president, but in 1804 he ended what little chance he had for any future political career by killing Alexander Hamilton in a duel. His fortunes in ruin, Burr embarked upon an ill-conceived scheme to capture and settle territory in Spanish-held western lands. His exact plans are shrouded in confusion, since he kept a number of options open. But whatever his plans may have been, the whole scheme fell apart when his chief confederate, General James Wilkinson, the governor of Louisiana (and secretly in the pay of Spain), denounced Burr to Jefferson, suggesting that Burr’s actions could provoke a war with Spain. The army seized Burr as he floated downstream on a flatboat to New Orleans, and then brought him to Richmond to stand trial for treason in the U.S. Circuit Court.


Convicting Burr became an obsession for Jefferson, and by extension, for the entire Republican Party. The president publicly denounced Burr in a letter to Congress, kept in close touch with the proceedings throughout the case, and personally directed the government prosecutor. His disdain for the guarantees of a fair trial, his suggestion that habeas corpus be suspended, and his veiled threats that if Burr went free the entire Supreme Court should be impeached all reveal what one historian has termed “the darker side” of a man venerated in history as the great apostle of individual liberty.


Since Burr was captured in a territory where there was no federal court, he was brought to the nearest site of a federal court that could hear the trial, namely Richmond, and Jefferson’s fury at Burr quickly encompassed John Marshall, who presided over the trial as circuit judge for Virginia. (At that time, circuit courts had original jurisdiction to try treason cases; the Supreme Court has never had that power. Marshall presided because of his dual role—as a member both of the Supreme Court and of one of the circuits.)


Painfully aware of the political ramifications of the trial, Marshall also recognized the serious legal issues involved. Historians have in general given him high marks for his handling of the case, as well as for the law he propounded during its proceedings. The chief justice, however, does not completely escape criticism. Several times during the trial he took the occasion to chastise the government for its apparent vendetta against Burr and its disregard for the essential safeguards of a fair trial. Rather indiscreetly, he even attended a dinner given by Burr’s counsel in honor of the defendant! Little wonder, then, that Jefferson saw Marshall as attempting to coddle traitors and embarrass his administration.


Above all, the chief justice wanted to depoliticize the case, an effort doomed to failure from the beginning. On April 1, Marshall dismissed the charge of treason against Burr. The Constitution (Article III, Section 3) defines treason as “only in levying War against [the United States], or in adhering to their enemies, giving them Aid and Comfort.” To support the charge of treason, therefore, war actually had to take place. Conspiracy to make war, while certainly a crime, did not meet the definition of treason. This definition of treason as only related to war remains valid to this day.


Despite a reference to the “hand of malignity,” which must not be permitted to “grasp any individual against whom its hate may be directed, or whom it may capriciously seize, charge him with some secret crime, and put him on the proof of his innocence,” Marshall’s opinion displayed prudence and legal exactitude. A careful review of the evidence failed to prove treason, for actual war had not been levied against the United States. The government would, however, be allowed to try Burr for assembling a military expedition against a country with whom the United States was then at peace, and if it could gather any evidence that Burr had intended to wage war against the United States, it could then seek a grand jury indictment for treason.


A furious Jefferson wrote to Senator Giles that the day could not be distant when the Constitution would be amended so as to remove “the error . . . which makes any branch independent of the nation.” With more passion for vengeance than sensitivity to legal rights, the president personally took direction of the prosecution. Witnesses would be produced, he assured Giles, as well as evidence to “satisfy the world, if not the judges,” of Burr’s treason. He immediately sent out a call for anyone who could testify to the former vice president’s guilt, promising pardons to anyone connected with the affair if they would cooperate. Jefferson even instructed George Hay, the government attorney, to introduce Marshall’s opinion in Marbury and then denounce it “as not law.” Hay wisely declined to do so, and ultimately, after much maneuvering on both sides, the jury found Burr not guilty.


Although the Burr trial took place in circuit court, the ruling is properly viewed as part of John Marshall’s tenure on the Supreme Court, for, as much as any case he participated in, it helped to develop the power of the judiciary and strengthen the rule of law. Despite Marshall’s occasional slaps at Jefferson, he remained for the most part highly sensitive to the overcharged political atmosphere in which the trial took place. He worded his rulings carefully and displayed meticulous attention to legal principles; despite the confusion that still exists regarding Burr’s intentions, there is little doubt that treason, as defined by the Constitution, had not occurred. The Jeffersonians, as expected, reacted strongly to the acquittal. The president sent several hundred pages of supporting materials to Congress, urging it to consider the appropriate steps that should be taken—hoping that one would be the removal of John Marshall from the bench. But increased tensions with Great Britain and France soon diverted the administration’s attention to other matters, and the Burr issue was dropped.


Aftermath


Marbury received much less attention in 1803 than it did in succeeding years, in part because the result of the case—that Marbury never got his commission—was uncontroversial. Jefferson, who had no intention of granting the commission, was off the hook, and the Federalists were pleased enough with Marshall’s deft handling of the case not to be too sorry about the result.


Following the case, William Marbury faded from public view, his political fortunes declining alongside those of the Federalist Party. He remained a well-to-do banker, and although he did not recognize it at the time, his name would live on, as his case is studied by succeeding generations of students and cited by federal courts. He is the only disappointed office-seeker whose portrait hangs in the Supreme Court building. Chief Justice Warren Burger designated the justices’ private dining room as the “John Marshall Room,” and in it, side by side, are portraits of William Marbury and James Madison. Marbury’s portrait was painted by Rembrandt Peale, a cousin of his wife’s, and it depicts a prosperous banker, well satisfied with his world. The disappointment of not getting his commission does not appear on his face.
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chapter two



The Case of the Larcenous Cashier



M’Culloch v. Maryland (1819)


ONE OF THE MOST CONTENTIOUS political and constitutional battles in the early decades of the United States concerned a bank, and whether under the Constitution Congress had the power to charter banks and other institutions. The case that ultimately resolved these issues bore the name of James William McCulloh, a man of modest means, boundless energy and ambition, and few scruples. The decision by Chief Justice John Marshall is considered one of the foundation stones of American constitutional development.


Interpreting the Constitution: Jefferson versus Hamilton


The question of whether Congress had the power to charter banks had first arisen when Alexander Hamilton, secretary of the Treasury under George Washington, proposed a three-part plan to solve the nation’s economic woes. The Constitution had, in large part, come about because of the financial problems besieging the federal government under the Articles of Confederation. The Confederation Congress had had no independent taxing power, and so it had been unable to pay the mounting debt owed to European nations as well as to its own citizens.


Hamilton presented his “Report on the Public Credit” to Congress when it convened in January 1790. He proposed to convert more than $13 million in unpaid interest into principal, and then fund the entire debt at par—that is, one hundred cents on the dollar. A certain part of the government’s revenue from its new taxing power under the Constitution would be pledged to paying this debt, which would also include bonds issued by the states to help finance the Revolution. As Hamilton well understood, the plan would bring influential and wealthy citizens who held the debt into closer ties and greater support for the new national government.


Hamilton proposed using a tariff on imported goods to provide the revenue to pay the $80 million national debt, and the funding and assumption of prior state and federal debts would indeed bring order out of the government’s financial chaos. But the nation also lacked an adequate circulating currency and a central bank, and for the third part of his plan Hamilton looked to the model of the Bank of England, which served as the main depository of government funds, the issuer of currency, and a regulator of smaller banks. Hamilton’s proposed Bank of the United States would do all this and more; it would be the fiscal agent of the government, facilitate tax collection, and stimulate the flow of capital into and around the country. As he noted, the Bank, which would be privately owned but responsible to the government, would be “a political machine of the greatest importance to the State.”


Despite spirited opposition from southern representatives and senators who questioned whether the national government had this power, the bank bill easily passed both houses of Congress. Although President Washington felt disposed to sign the bill, some of the objections raised in the congressional debate about the constitutional power of Congress to charter a bank bothered him. So, as was his custom, he sought advice. He asked James Madison to prepare a veto measure should he decide against the measure, and also sought the views of Attorney General Edmund Randolph and Secretary of State Thomas Jefferson.


The views of Jefferson and Hamilton provided the first great debate on the meaning of the Constitution after it had been adopted and the new government established. Jefferson conceded that the proper construction of the Constitution “where a phrase will bear either of two meanings, [is] to give it that which will allow some meaning to the other parts of the instrument, and not that which would render all the others useless.” But, he argued, neither the taxing power nor the necessary and proper clause supported justification for a bank charter. Jefferson claimed that the Constitutional Convention had not intended to give Congress a free hand, but to “lace them up straightly within the enumerated powers.” The necessary and proper clause meant no more than that Congress could enact measures indispensable to carrying out the enumerated powers in a narrowly defined manner. In other words, Congress could do only what the Constitution expressly permitted it to do, and nothing else. He claimed that the convention had not given Congress the authority to grant charters because it feared that Congress would do just what Hamilton proposed—charter a bank.


(On this Jefferson was wrong. In the debates at the Philadelphia Convention delegates had rejected a proposal to put in a clause expressly giving Congress the charter power—not because it wanted to deny that power, but because it was assumed that any sovereign had the authority to issue a charter. It was not necessary to spell out a power already there.)


Washington then showed Hamilton the objections and invited a reply. The Treasury secretary quickly prepared a 15,000-word “Opinion on the Constitutionality of the Bank,” a document considered by scholars to be the most forceful argument ever written that the frugal words of the Constitution “ought to be construed liberally in advancement of the public good.” The necessary and proper clause meant that Congress had to have the fullest authority possible to carry out the general goals of the Constitution, such as the common defense and the general welfare, “by all the means fairly applicable to the attainment of those ends.”


Where Jefferson had argued that Congress could only do what the Constitution expressly permitted it to do, Hamilton claimed that Congress could do everything except what the Constitution specifically forbade. Rather than a statute, which is to be interpreted literally and applies to a specific matter, the men at Philadelphia had wanted to provide a broad framework for a government, and so had provided not only express powers but implied ones as well. Congress had the express power to lay and collect taxes, to coin money, and to regulate trade, so therefore it had to have the implied power to create an appropriate mechanism to exercise those functions—in this instance, a bank.


The debate between Hamilton and Jefferson represented far more than differing modes of textual interpretation. Jefferson and his fellow Virginian and ally, James Madison, feared a strong national government, and although they recognized the need for some central authority, they wanted that government to do no more than what was absolutely necessary lest it endanger the liberties of the individual. Hamilton did not want to restrict individual rights, but he had seen the chaos of the confederation, and believed that only a powerful central agency would ensure the economic stability on which the nation’s future prosperity and happiness depended. A government by its nature had to be able to govern, and while he recognized constitutional limits—he had, after all, helped to draft the document—he claimed for the government all other powers inherent in sovereignty.


Hamilton’s view prevailed; Washington signed the measure, and the Bank of the United States began business with a twenty-year charter. It proved very successful, and functioned exactly as Hamilton had hoped. But when its charter expired in 1811, James Madison occupied the White House, the Jeffersonian Republicans controlled Congress, and they refused to renew the charter. The nation’s finance grew muddled, and local state banks—free from the regulations enforced by a central bank—flooded the nation with cheap and sometimes worthless currency that fueled land speculation in the West.


Then came the War of 1812, and the Madison administration was embarrassed by the lack of a national bank, both as a source for borrowing and as a means of transferring funds from one part of the country to another. Whatever their earlier beliefs about the constitutionality of the bank, Madison and the younger Republicans faced up to its necessity. The issue, he told Congress, had been settled “by repeated recognitions . . . of the validity of such an institution in acts of the legislative, executive and judicial branches of the Government . . . accompanied by . . . a concurrence of the general will of the nation.” Congress agreed, and in 1816 issued a twenty-year charter for a new second Bank of the United States modeled after Hamilton’s original, but capitalized at $35 million instead of $10 million.*


Many of the older states’ rights Republicans still opposed a charter, as did New England Federalists, who did not want to see the nation’s banking center shift from Boston to Philadelphia. While no one had ever challenged the first Bank in the courts, no one doubted that there would be a suit this time, due in part to a growing fear in southern states about the increased power of the national government. Despite Madison’s assertion, the Supreme Court had never passed on the legitimacy of the bank or of congressional power to charter such an institution.


James McCulloh—Cashier Extraordinaire


In 1818 the Bank, anticipating an economic downturn, began calling in loans, and in doing so caused a number of overextended local banks in the South and West to fail. The Panic arrived, but many people blamed the Bank for causing it, and under pressure from jealous local banks, seven states passed laws restricting the Bank’s operations within their borders; in some instances they taxed banknotes issued by non-state-chartered institutions. (Prior to the passage of the Federal Reserve Act in 1913, paper currency consisted primarily of denominational certificates, i.e., banknotes, issued by private banks.)


In February 1818 the Maryland legislature passed a measure that had but a single purpose—to banish from the state the “monstrous” second Bank of the United States—through the device of levying high taxes on the Bank’s notes. Such a tax would cost consumers far more to use Bank of the United States notes than those from local Maryland banks, which were untaxed. The law especially targeted the large Baltimore branch of the Bank, run by its president, James A. Buchanan, and its cashier, James William McCulloh. (As in a number of cases, the clerk of the Supreme Court misspelled the name, and the case has come down as M’Culloch v. Maryland.)


A native of Philadelphia, McCulloh had until this time lived primarily in obscurity. He may—or may not—have served with a group of Baltimore volunteers during the War of 1812, and appears to have been wounded when the British invaded Maryland. Returning to Baltimore, he entered the banking firm of Smith and Buchanan, and had progressed to the position of cashier, which paid him a salary of $4,000 a year. Although at the time a man of modest means, McCulloh had ambition and talents just waiting to be tapped. Rapid growth in postwar Baltimore provided opportunity not only for the hardworking, honest businessman, but also for those of another stripe. In Baltimore, John Quincy Adams noted, prosperity and profligacy had become intertwined, and when the Bank of the United States opened a Baltimore branch, Buchanan and McCulloh seized the opportunities to pursue personal enrichment at the expense of sound financial management.


Buchanan, McCulloh, and a third person, George Williams, formed a separate company in late 1816 or early 1817 for the sole purpose of acquiring and trading the Bank’s stock. They soon understood that the central office in Philadelphia had neither the interest nor the ability to curb their activity, and they used their positions as officers of the Baltimore branch to manipulate the price of the stock in the open market. They made substantial loans to themselves, sometimes secured by the stock but more often with no collateral at all.


McCulloh, as the Baltimore branch cashier, played the key role. In his official capacity as an officer of the Bank he spoke critically of the central management in Philadelphia, calling it too conservative. In a letter to the secretary of the Treasury in 1817, he spoke approvingly of a “system of permanent loans adopted toward individuals and likewise to banks.” He failed to mention, however, that most of these loans had been made without any collateral security, and to individuals like him and his partners whose sole purpose was secret profit. McCulloh had, in fact, approved unsecured loans to himself totaling $500,000, part of the $3 million he and his confederates eventually stole from the Bank.


Shortly after the Maryland tax law went into effect in early 1818, McCulloh approved the issuance of banknotes to George Williams on unstamped paper—that is, paper on which the state tax had not been paid. On May 18, 1818, John James, the Maryland state treasurer for the Western Shore, brought an action against the Bank to recover $2,500 in penalties owed on these notes. There is some evidence that McCulloh and James acted collusively in the matter, planning to set up a confrontation to test the legality of the second Bank. There had always been questions about constitutionality, but the second Bank, unlike the first, had become widely unpopular because of poor management almost from the time it had opened for business. McCulloh had no real interest in protecting the Bank; he had already stolen about as much as he could, and if the Bank were declared unconstitutional, he could walk away with his ill-gotten gains and no one would be the wiser.


The case proceeded quickly through the Maryland courts. In June the Baltimore County Court found that the Bank owed the tax, a judgment confirmed by the Maryland Court of Appeals. The Supreme Court placed the case on its docket on September 18, 1818, and set argument for the following February. During this time the schemers’ plans began to unravel, as the central bank began trying to get control over the loans issued by the branches. The head office demanded a list of all the stock loans made by the Baltimore branch. McCulloh, at his partners’ urging, stalled, only to have the officers in Philadelphia insist more forcefully. He began falsifying records and managed to hide his chicanery until January 1819, when one of his partners, William Jones, the president of the Baltimore branch, resigned. Soon news about the frauds became common knowledge, but that played no role when Daniel Webster rose before the Court to argue the constitutionality of the second Bank of the United States.


Arguments before the Court


Oral argument lasted nine days before an attentive Court and an appreciative audience. Justice Joseph Story noted to a friend that the case involved a “great question” and was argued before “a crowded audience of ladies and gentlemen; the hall was full almost to suffocation, and many went away for want of room.” The Court itself, Story said, recognized that this was a “case involving a constitutional question of great public importance, and the sovereign rights of the United States and the State of Maryland.” Because of its significance, the Court did away with its usual rule of allowing only two lawyers to argue for each side, and so it heard a total of six people make their cases.


Certainly the best known of the advocates, and one who regularly drew a large crowd whenever he appeared before the Court, was Daniel Webster. Called by some the “Godlike Daniel” and by others “Black Dan,” the Boston attorney (he would later be a senator and also serve as secretary of state) was a physically commanding figure with black hair and a large head in which were set a pair of piercing eyes. Well conscious of his appearance, he always came before the Court impeccably attired in the latest fashion. But his greatest asset was his voice, which according to one Englishman who heard him speak, “when animated, it rings on the ear like a clarion.”


Webster framed the issues simply: Did Congress have the power to create the Bank? If so, could Maryland levy a tax on it? In those days the justices did not pepper attorneys appearing before them with questions, but sat silently listening to the arguments. So they listened attentively as Webster led them through the case for the Bank, claiming that by this time it ought to be beyond question that Congress had the power, and that the Bank itself was constitutional. Since neither the executive nor the legislative branch had ever expressed an opinion against the Bank’s constitutionality, then neither should the Court, “unless [the Bank’s] repugnancy with the constitution were plain and manifest.”


But even though he claimed that the constitutionality of the Bank and congressional power to create it were clear to all, he rehearsed those arguments again so as to make them even clearer to the justices. The Bank was a means, not an end—a mere adjunct to Congress carrying out powers given to it directly by the Constitution. That being the case, then the states could not tax the Bank: “An unlimited power to tax involves, necessarily, a power to destroy.” If the Court upheld the Maryland tax, then the taxing power could be applied by the states to all branches of the national government, including the courts. Such a power could not be countenanced.


Following Webster came the first attorney for Maryland, Joseph Hopkinson, a distinguished Philadelphia lawyer who in other cases had been Webster’s ally. A thoughtful and refined man, he was described by contemporaries as a skilled advocate, with a “beautiful and highly trained mind.” Hopkinson did not accept the argument that the constitutionality of the Bank had long been established. Indeed, there had been a running debate on that question almost from the time Alexander Hamilton had proposed it. But even if one accepted the argument that the government needed some agency to hold and disburse tax monies, that agency did not have to have branches. Those branches existed for one purpose only—to make money for the stockholders.


This brought him to the question of taxation, which Hopkinson declared implicated “the highest attributes of sovereignty, the right to raise revenue; in fact, the right to exist; without which no other right can be held or enjoyed.” Banks were not immune from taxation, and there was no reason the Bank of the United States should be. Even though it carried out certain tasks for the government, it was essentially a private corporation, a status that the great Hamilton himself had characterized as necessary. Take away the official-sounding name and it is “a mere association of individuals, putting their money into a common stock, to be loaned for profit, and to divide the gains.” Such a corporation deserved no special immunity from taxation.


Hopkinson did not shirk from the key constitutional issue, whether the “necessary and proper clause” expanded the reach of specific delegated powers or whether it was a mere truism. He condemned the very idea of a government of ill-defined but apparently all-encompassing authority, and declared that the only proper way to interpret the Constitution and the powers it gave Congress was as narrowly as possible.


Webster and Hopkinson laid out the major arguments for the Bank and for Maryland, and for the most part the other attorneys rang changes on these themes. William Wirt, the attorney general of the United States, also argued on behalf of the Bank. He explained that “necessary and proper” is equivalent to “needful and adapted.” This, he claimed, was consistent with both the common understandings of the terms and the manner in which the Constitution had intended them to be interpreted. Wirt also went into the history of the Bank, and noted the great distress faced by the government during the years between the expiration of the first Bank and the chartering of the second.


Wirt was followed by Walter Jones, a Washington attorney and the least known of the six advocates, who nonetheless enjoyed a reputation as a “legal genius.” He brought nothing new to the arguments, but expounded at length on the compact theory of government, by which he claimed that ultimate authority rested not in Congress but in the states who had joined together through the Constitution (a compact) and in which sovereignty rested with the states and not with the national government. (This theory would be a key feature in the Southern states’ rights argument leading up to the Civil War.)


The last two speakers between them took up five days—Luther Martin, the attorney general of Maryland, and William Pinkney, an acerbic but highly effective litigator. A later chief justice, Roger Brooks Taney, said, “I have heard all of the greatest advocates of the United States, but I have seen none equal to Pinkney.” Martin mounted an extensive attack on the very idea of implied powers, and that one could not, by a fair reading of the Constitution, find in it one power more than those expressly described. Pinkney declared that it was beneath his dignity, and that of the Court, to even waste time on such a claim, since both the text and experience had shown that the government not only had but needed the implied powers to carry out its duties. He attacked the claim that states could tax at their will, and closed the ninth day declaring that “no other alternative remains, but for this Court to interpose its authority, and save the nation from the consequences of this dangerous attempt.”


Decision


After the attorneys had finished, it seemed clear that the Court had to resolve two questions: Did Congress have the power to charter the Bank? And if so, did Maryland have the right to tax its operations within the state? Although the questions appeared simple enough, the answers—and the form they took—would have far larger implications. Few people expected the Court to rule against congressional authority to charter the Bank. In the arguments before the bench, counsel for both sides apologized about repeating contentions that had now grown “threadbare” since the debate between Hamilton and Jefferson more than a quarter-century earlier. Why should the Court adopt Jefferson’s views when even his own party had abandoned them? Madison had certainly been right when he noted the “concurrence of the general will of the nation” in the Bank’s legitimacy. For most observers, only the constitutionality of the state tax on a valid organ of the national government seemed in doubt.


The opinion came down quickly—so quickly that some people speculated that a draft had been prepared even before the Court heard oral argument. Chief Justice John Marshall’s opinion in M’Culloch v. Maryland went far beyond the two basic questions. His “state paper,” as it has been properly called, put forth theories of national sovereignty and federal power that over the next century and a half would be used to justify the growth of the central government and its involvement in nearly every aspect of national life. M’Culloch would help make the Constitution support the “great national interests,” in Justice Joseph Story’s words, “which shall bind us in an indissoluble chain.” Speaking for a unanimous Court, Marshall quickly demolished Maryland’s assertions of state sovereignty. While conceding that the federal government had limited powers in a federal union of divided sovereignty with the states, within its assigned spheres of power, the national government reigned supreme. Whenever legitimate federal power conflicted with state authority, the latter had to give way. The federal government took precedence over the state, because it derived its mandate from the people: “It is the government of all; its powers are delegated by all; it represents all, and acts for all.”


But if the state could not restrict a legitimate act of Congress, did Congress have the power to charter a bank in the first place? Such authority had admittedly not been included among the enumerated powers of Article I, Section 8, but Marshall still held that it came within the parameters of the Constitution. Relying on William Pinkney’s argument for the Bank, as well as Alexander Hamilton’s justification for the first Bank of the United States, Marshall set out a broad interpretation of constitutional power.


To begin with, he declared that “[w]e must never forget that it is a constitution we are expounding.” If every power necessary to the federal government had to be listed, the Constitution would be nothing more than a legal code, whose prolixity “could scarce be embraced by the human mind.” The enumerated powers merely pointed out obvious traits of government, but they had to be interpreted liberally, so that the government could act without undue restraint in any area of its responsibilities. The Framers had been too wise to anticipate all contingencies, and so they had provided, along with enumerated powers, the power to pass “all laws which shall be necessary and proper for carrying into execution the foregoing powers.”


The word necessary should not be construed, as Maryland urged, as a restriction, but rather as an addition to the enumerated powers. Congress thus had discretion over which means it would choose to implement “those great powers on which the welfare of the nation essentially depends.” Then, in one of his most oft-quoted passages, Marshall declared: “Let the end be legitimate, let it be within the scope of the constitution, and all means which are appropriate, which are plainly adapted to that end, which are not prohibited, but consist with the letter and spirit of the constitution, are constitutional.” Any other reading would reduce the Constitution to a “splendid bauble,” and not a great charter of government “intended to endure for ages to come, and, consequently, to be adapted to the various crises of human affairs.”


But could the Bank (which had barely been mentioned so far) be taxed? Marshall had made clear the supremacy of the national government when operating within its broadly defined parameters; now he set about preventing the state’s conceded sovereignty from clashing with that of the federal government. The Constitution, the chief justice noted, did not expressly limit the state’s power to tax, but by a series of inferences, he solved that problem. If the government had the power to create an agency, then it obviously had the means to preserve it. But “the power to tax involves the power to destroy . . . and render useless the power to create.” How could the federal government be supreme within its area of competency if another sovereign could exercise a power capable of reaching into and destroying creations authorized by the Constitution? Marshall did not discuss whether the Maryland tax actually threatened the Bank with destruction; the potentially injurious power of the tax alone invalidated it on constitutional grounds. Declaring it as a broad principle, Marshall concluded that “[s]tates have no power, by taxation or otherwise, to retard, impede, burden, or in any manner control the operation of the constitutional laws enacted by Congress to carry into execution the powers vested in the general government.”


The impact of M’Culloch lay less in its specific holding than in the bold and expansive manner in which the chief justice interpreted federal power. The decision heartened the Bank but did not prove decisive. Within a few years, the exact same issue came back before the Court in Osborn v. Bank of the United States (1824), when Ohio, in defiance of a circuit court injunction, levied and collected a tax on the Bank. Once again John Marshall, this time with Justice William Johnson dissenting, upheld the constitutionality of the Bank and gave another strong lecture on national supremacy. Moreover, despite the Eleventh Amendment, which had been passed to prevent private entities, such as people and companies, from suing states in federal courts, he ensured the Bank’s access to the federal courts to defend itself against similar attacks by a state. Even more important, he ruled that agents of the state were personally liable for damages inflicted while executing an unconstitutional statute.


There could not have been much surprise at the ruling. After all, the first Bank had lasted twenty years, and the second Bank, despite intense hostility from local interests, had already gained recognition as an important and useful feature of the nation’s economic life. Charges that the Bank had caused the Panic of 1819 had led to an attempt in the House of Representatives to revoke the charter, but a majority in Congress considered the Bank too valuable for such a severe action. So “the Bank Case” would never have become “the Great Case” just for its validation of the Bank’s legitimacy.


It became a great case—one of the most important in American constitutional development—because John Marshall justified the Bank’s legitimacy on the basis of a broad and flexible interpretation of the Constitution, arguing that a constitution could not be expected to list every power of government, and that Congress therefore enjoyed large discretion in determining the means it would use to achieve its ends. His analysis provided the foundation for broadly conceived national action that has been drawn upon ever since as the government expanded its activities. Moreover, Marshall’s decision came at a time of government retrenchment after a period of nationalistic expansion during and after the War of 1812; it did not serve to justify current activity so much as provide the jurisprudential basis for future growth.



The States’ Rights Attack



To many Republicans, however, M’Culloch sounded an alarm, and their response triggered an event unique in American constitutional history—a justice defending a decision publicly albeit pseudonymously. William Brockenbrough attacked the decision in a series of essays in the Richmond Enquirer beginning at the end of March 1819, under the pseudonym “Amphictyon.” (As was common from colonial times through the early Republic, famous people writing essays on matters of public policy often took the names of ancient Greeks or Romans. Amphictyon had been king of Athens, and had created an alliance with neighboring city-states for common defense.)


Brockenbrough, a member of the Virginia elite, served on the circuit court in Richmond, an important tribunal just one step below the court of appeals. He belonged to the Richmond Junto, a powerful secretive group that controlled Virginia politics for many years, and he spoke for other states’ rights advocates who feared the Court under Marshall would build up the power of the national government to the point where it could conceivably attack the institution of slavery.


He began by criticizing the manner in which the Court had decided the case, through a “unanimous and decided opinion.” This echoed the longtime lament of Thomas Jefferson that under John Marshall the Court had abandoned the English practice of seriatim opinions, in which each justice spoke for himself. Brockenbrough believed the public should have the benefit of each member’s views, rather than just hearing from the arch-nationalist Marshall. Creating a more powerful national government, he charged, is “a subject which has employed [Marshall’s] thoughts, his tongue, and his pen, as a politician, and an historian, for more than thirty years.” No doubt the opinion was very able, “as everyone must admit,” for after all, it had come from a man of “gigantic powers.” But M’Culloch should be seen for what it really was—a political rather than a legal resolution of the important issues raised by the Bank.


The crux of the Amphictyon essays involved what Brockenbrough saw as the threat to states’ rights posed by the Court’s decisions under Marshall, and the great powers they confirmed in Congress that had not been given to that body in the Constitution. He saw two great dangers:




The first is the denial that the powers of the federal government were delegated by the states; and the second is, that the grant of powers to the government, and particularly the grant of powers “necessary and proper” ought to be construed in a liberal, rather than a restricted sense. Both of these principles tend directly to the consolidation of the states, and to strip them of some of the most important attributes of their sovereignty.





These arguments continued the constitutional debate that had occupied the country since 1787, and Brockenbrough charged that the Court had gotten it wrong when it declared that the powers of the national government came from the people rather than from the states.


The case, therefore, had not really been about the Bank; Brockenbrough conceded that the debates surrounding the establishment of the first Bank in 1791 and the Second Bank in 1815 had resolved the constitutionality of that institution. The core issue involved the powers of the states, and the notion that in a federal system all sovereignty flowed from the states. It would be a claim maintained by the Southern states until the Civil War bloodily resolved the matter, and even beyond.


John Marshall’s Defense


Although Marshall had not responded to earlier criticisms of his decisions, he felt compelled to answer Amphictyon, and in many ways the nine essays he published as “A Friend of the Constitution” in the Philadelphia Union in late April were a continuation and expansion of his opinion in M’Culloch.


Unlike the states’ rights Republicans, Marshall believed that the power of the national government came from the people, not from the states, and the people bestowed on that government certain powers as well as certain limits—the powers to make sure that the government could function successfully in their best interests, and the limits so as to preserve their liberties. He addressed specifically the claim that the Constitution made the national government one of limited authority, delineated by those powers specifically listed, and nothing else. “The power to do a thing,” he claimed, “and the power to carry that thing into execution, are, I humbly conceive, the same power, and the one cannot be termed with propriety ‘additional’ or ‘incidental’ to the other.” This, of course, was the heart of both Hamilton’s defense of the Bank and the opinion in M’Culloch—a power, even if expressly declared, was of no value if it could not be implemented, and the implementation could take whatever form Congress chose.


The heart of his arguments, which drew from his opinion, dealt with the nature of the Constitution. It was not “a contract for a single object, every thing relating to which, might be recollected and inserted.” It is a constitution, a document that is




the act of a people. The powers of this government are conferred for their own benefit, are essential to their own prosperity, and are to be exercised for their good, by persons chosen for that purpose by themselves. The object of that government is not a single one which can be minutely described, with all its circumstances. The attempt to do so, would actually change its nature, and defeat its purpose. It is intended to be a general system for future times, to be adapted by those who administer it, to all future occasions that may come within its view. From its nature, such an instrument can describe only the great objects it is intended to accomplish, and state in general terms, the specific powers which are deemed necessary for those objects.





It would ultimately take a civil war to swing the argument in favor of Marshall’s nationalistic interpretation of the Constitution, but in the end his views—and those of Alexander Hamilton—prevailed.


Citizen McCulloh


Two months after the decision, news about the full extent of McCulloh’s fraud became widely known, and the Bank’s directors forced him to resign. The losses at the Baltimore branch eventually exceeded $1.5 million (equivalent to more than $26 million in current dollars), and while McCulloh and his cronies were not the only ones to abuse the Bank and manipulate the stock, their activities far outpaced those of other schemers. McCulloh, Buchanan, Williams, and Jones became emblematic of all the wrongs that people associated with the second Bank of the United States, including the belief that its policies had triggered the Panic of 1819.


The decision in the Supreme Court, of course, did not speak to the criminal culpability of Bank officers, and Nicholas Biddle, soon to become president of the Bank, worried about the possibility that McCulloh and others like him could “defraud the institution of millions and escape the criminal law of the United States.” His concerns proved justified. McCulloh, Buchanan, and Williams were indicted for conspiracy to defraud the Bank and its investors. At the initial trial in Hartford County Court in 1820, the judges dismissed the indictment after accepting defense arguments that conspiracy to defraud was neither a crime recognized by statute in Maryland nor an offense at common law. In December 1821 the Maryland Court of Appeals reversed and ordered that the case go to trial on the merits—that is, to determine the guilt or innocence of the defendants.


After a bench trial (one tried by a judge without a jury) in March 1823, McCulloh and Buchanan were acquitted and the indictment against Williams dismissed. As the historian Mark Killenbeck noted, “[T]he results almost certainly reflected a verdict against the Bank itself, rather than a judgment that the three had not engaged in massive fraud.” The three men had portrayed themselves as “victims,” caught up in the “hopes and calculations in which the whole community indulged.” Had the value of the Bank’s stock increased, they maintained, they would have been looked upon as “nobles, as the architects of their fortunes, by the very men who persecuted them, and lauded to the skies as possessing spirits fraught with enterprise.” This defense conveniently ignored the fact that much of the collapse in bank share values came about because of their failed speculation.


In the 1820s the second Bank of the United States prospered mightily, only to fall victim to Andrew Jackson’s ill-founded hatred of all banks. In 1832 he vetoed the recharter of the Bank, calling it a “monster” and a “hydra of corruption” that must be eliminated. The country found itself without an adequate central bank until 1913, when the modern Federal Reserve System began.


James William McCulloh also prospered. Condemned as a “destroyer of Widows and Orphans” in 1819, he won election to the Maryland House of Delegates from Baltimore County soon after his acquittal, and served as speaker of that house in 1826. In the 1830s, his past all but forgotten by contemporaries, he became an influential lobbyist, and worked assiduously for the Chesapeake and Ohio Canal Company in pursuit of government support for the canal and other such enterprises. He lived out his life as a successful businessman and lawyer and a respected citizen until his death in 1861.


Cases Cited


M’Culloch v. Maryland, 17 U.S. (4 Wheat.) 316 (1819)


Osborn v. Bank of the United States, 22 U.S. (9 Wheat.) 738 (1824)


For Further Reading


The best books on the subject are Mark R. Killenbeck, M’Culloch v. Maryland: Securing a Nation (2006), and Gerald Gunther, John Marshall’s Defense of M’Culloch v. Maryland (1969). The first covers all aspects of the matter, including the activities of the Bank and the chicaneries of McCulloh and his fellow culprits; the second focuses more on the decision in the case, the series of articles attacking it, and the essays that John Marshall wrote anonymously in its defense. The classic work on banking in the early United States that explores both the first and second Banks is Bray Hammond, Banks and Politics in America from the Revolution to the Civil War (1957), but it should be supplemented by Edward S. Kaplan, The Bank of the United States and the American Economy (1999), and by Robert V. Remini, Andrew Jackson and the Bank War (1967).


________


* Jefferson had also been forced to adopt a Hamiltonian interpretation of the Constitution in 1803 when he purchased the Louisiana Territory from France, an action that could not be grounded in a specific clause of the Constitution but could be rationalized through use of the necessary and proper clause.





chapter three



The Case of the Rival Steamboat Operators



Gibbons v. Ogden (1824)


THE CONSTITUTION of the United States grants to Congress the power “to regulate Commerce with foreign Nations, and among the several States, and with the Indian Tribes” (Article I, Section 8). Until 1824, however, neither Congress nor the Supreme Court defined what is meant by the regulation of commerce. In that year, thanks to a dispute between two rival steamboat operators, the Supreme Court had the opportunity to define the power, and John Marshall’s broad interpretation turned what might have been a neglected clause into one of the most important constitutional provisions for justifying a broad exercise of congressional power. His was not the last word on the subject, however, for the debate continues to this day.


Mr. Fulton’s Steamboat


On August 17, 1807, the North River Steamboat* made an upriver voyage from New York to Albany in thirty-two hours. Designed by Robert Fulton, a gifted engineer and shameless self-promoter, and financed by his partner, Robert Livingston, the steam-powered boat, able to sail inland waterways without the need for wind or currents, would revolutionize transportation in the United States in the early nineteenth century. It would become the dominant means of transportation of agricultural goods to market, as well as of travelers, until the explosion of railroads at the time of the Civil War. Every schoolchild is taught that Fulton invented the steamboat; it would be more accurate to say that he built upon the work of others, perfected the idea, and made it into a workable reality.


Twenty years earlier, at the time of the Constitutional Convention in 1787, while the Committee on Detail put together the various provisions that had been agreed upon, a number of delegates went down to the Delaware River to view the launch of an experimental steamboat, Perseverance, built by the inventor John Fitch. Absent from that group was the one delegate who might well have been expected to be most interested in such an invention, Benjamin Franklin. But Franklin had given his support to another man working on a steamboat, James Rumsey. Although both Fitch and Rumsey had promising designs, and both received patents on their designs, neither could secure the financial or political patronage necessary to raise the large capital investment needed to turn their primitive prototypes into commercially viable steamboats. It remained for the team of Fulton and Livingston to make the steamboat financially viable.


Robert Livingston had been born into one of the great New York families, and enjoyed social status, political influence, and, of course, wealth. He had a successful law career, rising to become the first chancellor of the state, its highest judicial office. He was also an enthusiastic amateur scientist, and pursued a number of experiments, such as building gristmills so as to eliminate the friction between stones, and crossing cows with elk at his estate at Clermont on the Hudson. He followed the efforts of Fitch and Rumsey, but refused to invest in them, believing they had not developed a design that would prove commercially feasible. But he did perceive that if a steamboat could be perfected, it would have an enormous impact on the country, and make its inventor and sponsors a lot of money.


He conducted some experiments with his neighbors and fellow amateurs, John Stevens (who would later do pioneer work in railroads) and Nicholas Roosevelt. In 1801 Thomas Jefferson appointed Livingston as one of the ministers to France to negotiate what would ultimately become the Louisiana Purchase. When he departed, he despaired that he would ever see the steam engine developed. In Paris, however, he met the man who would do what others before him had failed to accomplish.


Robert Fulton had grown up in Lancaster, Pennsylvania, and for many people he embodied the energy and self-confidence of the young nation. He had been a locksmith, a gunsmith, a draftsman, and a portrait painter; in fact, he had gone to England to study painting with Benjamin West. While there he also developed an abiding interest in submarines and torpedoes. As one scholar noted, it might be doubted whether Fulton’s lifelong purpose was to put boats upon the water or to blow them out of it. Fulton, however, had a gift of taking different strands of thoughts and the ideas and inventions of other people and putting them together in a way that would work. The work of other inventors existed only to be borrowed. “All these things,” he declared, “being governed by the laws of nature, the real invention is to find [such laws].”


In Paris, Fulton and Livingston built an experimental steamboat and successfully sailed it on the Seine. With Livingston’s financial backing, Fulton then went to England and managed to talk the British government into allowing the Boulton & Watt Company to build a steam engine to his specifications and for export. On April 23, 1807, Fulton claimed the engine at the New York Custom House, and took it over to his carpenter, who built a boat under Fulton’s guidance to house the engine.


The boat’s inaugural voyage took her through the highlands of the Hudson, and without a moon to illuminate the river, it seemed as if a volcano were sailing up the river spewing smoke and sparks. It apparently excited great terror among some of the farmers along the banks. One reportedly raced home, barred the doors, and declared that the Devil himself was going up to Albany in a sawmill.


In February 1809 the U.S. government gave Fulton a patent on his design. The issuance of a patent is designed, among other things, to confer a monopoly on the inventor for a period of time. The value of a patent and the exclusivity it provides, however, are directly proportional to the patent-holder’s ability to raise the necessary capital to develop the invention into a commercially feasible operation. He must also be prepared to prosecute infringers of his rights, successfully market the invention to the general public, and then license its use to those who would compete with him for the business.


The Steamboat Monopoly


In 1798 the New York legislature granted monopoly rights to John Fitch for steamboat navigation on the Hudson River, which flows for nearly three hundred miles within New York before forming the border between New York and New Jersey at its mouth. Fitch’s monopoly also included other New York waters, such as the upstate lakes. When Fitch could not raise the money to perfect his invention, however, the politically well-connected Livingston secured the monopoly rights for the partnership he had with Fulton. After Fulton demonstrated the success of his boat, the legislature extended the franchise for another twenty years, until 1838. The law gave Fulton and Livingston exclusive rights of steamboat navigation on all state waters, including the adjacent coastal waters, and on the lower Hudson River, where it runs between New York and New Jersey. The Fulton-Livingston group assigned licenses to a number of individuals to run steamboats in New York waters, collecting goodly sums of money in the process. This gave it the resources it needed to fight off efforts to break its monopoly, especially in the courts.
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